## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

JENNIE HARRIS, et al.,

Petitioners,

V.

CASE NO. **75,097** 

c pl.

MARTIN REGENCY, LTD., a Florida Limited Partnership,

Respondent.

## INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

JOANNA R. MARTIN, ESQ. 300 Colorado Avenue
Suite 202
Stuart, Florida 34994
and
Russell S. Bohn, Esq. of
EDNA L. CARUSO, P.A.
Suite 4-8/Barristers Bldg.
1615 Forum Place
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
(407) 686-8010
Attorneys for Petitioners

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff filed five separate complaints for eviction against Defendants in the county court in and for Martin County, Florida (R26-45). [Two of the complaints were later amended only to include additional parties (R217-18,279-82).] The Defendants filed separate and identical answers, with affirmative defenses and counterclaims (R51-140,294-311). [Count I of the counterclaims was eventually amended by agreement of the parties (R219-268, 330).] The Defendants filed motions to consolidate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>/There are six separate answers in the Record, all of which are identical except for the names of the Defendants in each (R51-68,69-87,87-104,105-22,123-40,294-311). For ease of reference, record references to the allegations in the Answers will be to only the first answer (R51-68).

the actions (R141-145), and to transfer the cases to the circuit court because the damages sought in the counterclaims exceeded the jurisdiction of the county court (R146-155). Plaintiff filed its answers to the counterclaims (R156-170), requested separate trials on the counterclaims (R181-190), and objected to transfer to the circuit court (R196-205).

The cases were eventually consolidated (R312-314), and transferred to the circuit court (R315). Thereafter, Plaintiff and Defendants filed motions for summary judgment (R316, 325-28; 317-321). The summary judgment motions were heard on January 19, 1988 (R1-25), after which Plaintiff (R357-374), and Defendants (R342-356, 375-82) filed memoranda of law. Defendants also filed a motion to supplement the record (R331-337), which was granted (R386).

Summary Judgment was entered in favor of Plaintiff (R383-385). Defendants moved for rehearing and vacation of the Summary Judgment (R387-398), to which Plaintiff responded (R400-423). Rehearing was denied (R424), and Defendants appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal (R425), which affirmed, but certified a question to this Court (R425). HARRIS v. MARTIN REGENCY, LTD., 550 So.2d 1160 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989). It also granted Plaintiff's motion for prevailing party attorney's fees pursuant to 8723.068, Fla. Stat. (1985).

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

## The Florida Mobile Home Act

This case involves the interpretation of several of the inter-related provisions of the Florida Mobile Home Act ("Act"), Chapter 723, Fla. Stat. (1985), especially the section of the Act which limits the grounds on which a mobile home park owner is permitted to evict the residents of the park. The eviction statute, \$723.061, Fla. Stat. (1985) reads in pertinent part as follows:

## 723.061 Eviction, grounds, proceedings -

- (1) A mobile home park owner may evict a mobile home owner or a mobile home <u>only</u> on one or more of the grounds provided in this section.
  - (a) Nonpayment of rent....
- (b) Conviction of a violation of federal or state law or local ordinance....
- (c) Violation of a park rule or regulation, the rental agreement, or this chapter....
- (d) Change in use of the land comprising the mobile home park, or the portion thereof from which mobile homes are to be evicted, from mobile home lot rentals to some other use, provided all tenants affected are given at least 6 months' notice, or longer if provided for in a valid rental agreement, of the projected change of use and of their need to secure other accommodations.
- (e) Failure of the purchaser of a mobile home situated in the mobile home park to be qualified as, and to obtain approval to become, a tenant, if such approval is required by a properly promulgated rule.

The provisions governing mobile home lot rental agreements specify that no rental agreement can provide for eviction on any ground other than those presented in \$723.061. See \$\$723.031 and 723.032, Fla. Stat. (1985).

Other pertinent provisions of the Act, which are presented more fully in the Argument portion of this brief, include \$\$723.081 and 723.083, Fla. Stat. (1985), which protect park residents in the case of a change in zoning. They require that the homeowners' association must be given notice of any application for a change in the zoning of the park, and also contain the following important limitation:

No agency of municipal, local, county or state government shall approve any application for rezoning, or take any other official action, which would result in the removal or relocation of mobile home owners residing in a mobile home park without first determining that adequate mobile home parks or other suitable facilities exist for the relocation of the mobile home owners.

Among other important provisions of the Act is S723.071, Fla. Stat. (1985), which provides that if a park owner offers a park for sale, he must notify the homeowners and give them the right to purchase it if they meet his price, terms and conditions. \$723.071(1)(a-c). Further, under \$723.071(2), if a park owner receives an offer to purchase the park which he intends to consider, he also must notify the homeowners, disclose the price and terms on which he would consider selling the park, and must consider any offer made by the homeowners. Under S723.074, Fla. Stat. (1985), if the park owner owns recreational facilities serving the mobile home subdivision, those facilities cannot be sold without first giving the homeowners the right to purchase them. Further, S723.022, Fla. Stat. (1985) deals with a park owner's general obligations, including that common areas and utility systems must be maintained in operating condition.

Finally, underlying all of the provisions of Ch. 723 is S723.021, which creates a statutory obligation of good faith and fair dealings, as follows:

Every rental agreement or duty within this chapter imposes an obligation of good faith and fair dealings in its performance or enforcement.

## The Facts of this Case

The facts of this case began in December 1984, when Martin Regency, Ltd. (hereafter "Park Owner") purchased the Regency Mobile Home Park (R58). James A. Kern (hereafter "Kern") is the general partner of Martin Regency, Ltd., a Miami based limited partnership, and at all relevant times directed and controlled the management of the park since its purchase (R51-52, 57-58). Soon after purchasing the park, Kern called a meeting of the mobile home residents, and announced that he was not experienced in running mobile home parks, that he represented a partnership which buys and sells land at a profit, and that he intended to sell the park and not to operate it as a mobile home park (R58).

On or about August 30, 1985, in his capacity as general partner, Kern served on all of the park residents identical eviction notices, which read as follows:

For many extenuating circumstances, including the decrepit condition of the "A" park, the very high cost of making minor repairs to the water and sewer facilities, and the probability of further restrictive legislation at the state level imposed on owners of mobile home parks, I must regretfully advise you that I wish to vacate the Regency Mobile Home Park. Florida law, in particular, Section 723.061(1)(d), F.S., requires that a six (6) month notice be given to the residents of the Park. The six months

will expire from the date stated above. Please consider this as your notice of the projected change in use of the land comprising the mobile home park. During the next few months you will need to secure other accommodations.

Mrs. Rareieck and I will be available to assist with this task. Depending on the requirements imposed by the Department of Environmental Regulation, it is possible this six month time period may be extended. (R28).

A number of the residents did not vacate, and on February 3, 1986, Kern sent the following letter to the tenants' association:

I am writing you as the attorney for the Regency Mobile Home Park Tenant's (sic) Association. You are aware that I wrote each tenant on August 30, 1985, advising them that I wish to vacate the park. I understand that those who have left the park or who plan to leave the park shortly number about 16. The six-month period I gave the tenants in which to leave expires at the end of February, 1986.

It appears that you and the officers of Tenant's (sic) Association approached me in good faith for the purpose of extending the date at which all tenants must leave the property and for negotiating whatever concessions you can for clients. It is my understanding that these negotiations will not drag on. Accordingly, you may advise the tenants that I won't be unreasonable or malicious in enforcing a deadline and suddenly inform the tenants that they must leave immediately. (R67).

The letter was written on stationary carrying Kern's name as "Registered Real Estate Broker" (R67). The Complaints for Eviction state that the eviction date was extended until May 1, 1987, and that on or about that date, the remaining residents received the following notice from Kern on behalf of the Park Owner:

YOU ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED that within five (5) days of your receipt of this notice, you

are to remove yourself(ves), your possessions, your mobile home and all appurtenances to the mobile home from the premises of Regency Mobile Home Park, 3005 No. Federal Highway, Jensen Beach, Florida. Failure to do so will result in a complaint for eviction being filed against you in the appropriate jurisdiction.

As you are aware, a notice of eviction was delivered to you on or about August, 1985. This notice provided for an eviction date on or about February, 1986. This eviction date was informally extended to May 1, 1987 (R29).

The Homeowners who are Defendants in this action are the last five families out of the approximately ninety-five families who resided in the park when the original eviction notices were They filed answers, along with seven affirmative defenses In those defenses, the Homeowners alleged that the "extenuating circumstances" listed in the eviction notices, and the Park Owner's "wish to vacate" the park, are not among the exclusive grounds for eviction authorized by \$723,061. (1985) They also alleged that the Park Owner acted in bad faith (R53). at the time it issued the eviction notices, because it had no plans to change the use of the property within the meaning of §723.061(1)(d) (R53). The Homeowners had demanded that the Park Owner disclose the nature of any projected change in use, but were refused (R54-55). They alleged that the only responses which they received at different times included the following: "I have no plans, I just want to resell it [the land comprising the park] at a profit." (R55). The Homeowners maintained that they remained on the premises instead of voluntarily vacating because of the Park Owner's refusal to disclose the change.

Among their defenses, the Homeowners also maintained that the Park Owner had breached its duty of good faith, and that if it was in fact changing the use of the land, it had a duty to disclose that use to the Homeowners so that they would know that they needed to comply with the eviction notices (R56), and that had there been disclosure, they would have vacated the premises in order to avoid the eviction proceeding (R55-56). They also alleged that since July 1, 1985, the Park Owner was required to provide the residents with a prospectus pursuant to \$723.012(12), Pla. Stat. (1985), which must contain a detailed description of any definite future plans which a park owner has for changes in the use of the land comprising the park. The Park Owner failed to provide the prospectus, which would have informed the Homeowners whether there was in fact any bona fide plan to change the use of the land, thereby obviating this lawsuit (R57).

In amended Count I of their counterclaims, the Homeowners alleged that from the time of the meeting with them in December 1984, Kern repeated that there were no plans to change the use of the park, but that he represented a partnership whose business it was to buy and sell land at a profit, and that that was what he intended to do (R57-61,229-236). The Homeowners alleged that if the park was sold to an entity which had bona fide plans to change the use of the land within the meaning of \$723.061(1)(d), the buyer would be entitled to evict them only if they were given a new one-year's notice of eviction, and if certain costs now specified in \$723.061(2), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1986), were paid.

Further, the Homeowners alleged that the current zoning on one portion of the park is non-conforming mobile home use established prior to 1958, and the zoning on the remaining portions of the park is for a trailer park. The Homeowners alleged that if the Park Owner is able to rid itself of them prior to seeking a change in rezoning, then it would not be required to demonstrate to the zoning authority that adequate mobile home parks or other suitable facilities exist for their relocation as required by \$723.083 (R229-30). Thus, clearing the park prior to sale would enable the Park Owner to realize a higher price in the sale, since the buyer would not have to meet those responsibilities either (R230).

In Count II of the counterclaims, the Homeowners pointed out that they are senior citizens, and that they have been subjected to bullying, threatening and intimidating statements and actions, including the following: on or about May 1, 1987, terminating the services of the park manager; commencing December 24, 1984, reducing and then ceasing entirely all maintenance of the common areas of the park in violation of the statutory obligation to maintain such common areas; in early May 1987, removing the washing machines and dryers from the park laundry; commencing in 1985, refusing to repair the park's water system; as of May 1, 1987, termination of the maintenance of the park's water and sewer system (R63). The Homeowners alleged that their age and economic status rendered them peculiarly susceptible to threats of eviction, and that their lives had been disrupted at a time of

their lives when they did not wish to have to fight, but to live in peace and harmony (R63-64).

In memoranda submitted before the entry of summary judgment, the Homeowners also pointed out that under \$723.071, a mobile home park owner who intends to sell the park is required to notify the officers of the home owners' association, stating the price and terms of sale, and affording them a right of first refusal to purchase the park. They repeatedly argued that vacating the park was not only not among the exclusive grounds for eviction, but enabled a park owner to evade the right of first refusal by emptying out the park and then reselling the vacant land, contrary to the obvious intent of \$723.071 to protect the homeowners (R348,380-81,395).

After the hearing on the summary judgment motions (R1-25), the Homeowners were granted leave to supplement the record with affidavits (R331-37, 383-85). The affidavit of Roger Hill, a staff writer for a local newspaper, stated (R333-34):

On April 17, 1987, I telephoned JAMES A. KERN at the following telephone number 305/595-3930. During this telephone conversation between MR. KERN and me, MR. KERN made the following statements:

I asked MR. KERN if he had specific plans for the Regency Park property. MR. KERN answered, I would have to say no. I simply want to vacate the park. They can't require me to stay in business. "I'm not a developer. I've never developed a thing." MR. KERN also told me during this same conversation, that he buys and sells land for investment, and that he could forsee [sic] selling the park in the next month or year.

On September 24, 1987, I again spoke with MR. KERN over the telephone, at the same

telephone number. I asked MR. KERN if he had sold the park and he said that he had not signed a contract, but that he had had inquires. He also said, "I'm free to sell and anyone is free to buy." MR. KERN also told me that he had paid \$3.50 a square foot for the land, and that during last Spring [Spring of 19871, he got an appraisal showing that the land was worth \$7.00 a square foot.

The affidavit of Jay Knohl stated (R335):

During or about July 1986, I went to Regency Mobile Home Park in Jensen Beach, Florida.

I went to the park because I had heard that mobile homes were being sold by the homeowners for prices substantially lower than their fair market value, and I wanted to buy a home at a good price.

I went to the mobile home park office and spoke with the manager. She told me that I could buy the homes that were left in the park for very little money because the park owner bought the park with the idea to dispossess all the tenants and resell the land because it was located next to the new mall making the land very valuable.

The affidavit of Howard E. Googe, Jr., Esq. stated (R336-37):

During 1985-1986, my firm represented the homeowners, at Regency Mobile Home Park located in Jensen Beach, Martin County, Florida.

\* \* \*

In connection with my representation of the homeowners, I had several conversations with Mr. James A. Kern, prior to his being represented by counsel regarding the evictions.

During one such conversation, I specifically asked Mr. Kern, "Exactly what change in the use of the property do you intend to make?" Mr. Kern's response to that question was that he had no plans for changes in the property at that time. He also said he was not a mobile home park operator and that it was his job to buy and sell property.

On or about March 13, 1986, I had lunch at Huckleberry's with Mr. Harris, Mr. Kern and two representative of the homeowners association. Again, I specifically asked Mr. Kern what he intended to change the use of the land to. Mr. Kern again said that he had no plans at that time.

During other conversations with Mr. Kern, he again told me that he had no plans for changes in the property; and that at some point down the line, he planned to sell the property. He also told me that at his first meeting with the homeowners, he was very "up front" with them and that he had told them that he's not a park operator and that he intended to sell the property in the future.

In the Summary Judgment, Judge Marc A. Cianca ruled that there were no genuine issues of material fact, and that the case turned on legal interpretation of the provisions of Chapter 723, Fla. Stat. He ruled that the eviction notices were sufficient because they tracked the statute, and informed the Homeowners of the Park Owner's intent to vacate the land and no longer hold it to use as a mobile home park (R383). The judge also resolved what he termed a "semantical issue on what constitutes a 'change of use,'" as follows:

If the land is no longer going to be used as a mobile home park and in effect becomes vacant land, to be put into some other commercial use or no use at all this constitutes a change of use. To pinpoint exactly what the land is going to be used for is not critical, so long as it is not a mobile home park. This interpretation falls well within the legislative intent in passing the legislation in question here. To do otherwise could initiate a constitutional problem or create an unreasonable result or consequence for the property owner. (R384).

The summary judgment was granted "conditioned on the land in question <u>not being used again</u> for a mobile home park or anything

related thereto, and that the defendants currently residing on the plaintiff's land be given until March 1, 1989 to vacate the property." (R384).

On appeal, the Fourth District affirmed the Summary Judgment. HARRIS V. MARTIN REGENCY, LTD., 550 So.2d 1160 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989). Relying on its prior opinion in BROWN v. POWELL, 531 So.2d 731 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), it held that an eviction notice need not specify the actual change in use. The court also held that the trial court did not error in concluding that "converting the land comprising the mobile home park from use as a mobile home park to vacant land, or to no use, constitutes a "change in use" within the contemplation of Section 723.061(1)(d), Florida Statutes (1985), but certified that question to this Court. Id. at 1161. Finally, the court did not reach the issue of whether the Park Owner had breached the statutory duty of good faith and fair dealings, because it determined that this issue had not been presented to the trial court. Id.

This proceeding follows.

#### Preservation

The following portion of this brief will be repetitive of a number of the facts already recited in this Statement, but this recitation of arguments made in the trial court is necessary because of the Fourth District's determination that the issue of the Park Owner's breach of the statutory duty of good faith and fair dealings had not been preserved for appeal.

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