IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FEB LC 11 5 C CLERK, Clérinein Clieff Deputy these

JENNIE HARRIS, et al.,

Petitioners,

vs.

CASE NO. 75,097

Bas I I .

 \dot{q}_{1}

MARTIN REGENCY, LTD., a Florida Limited Partnership,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

BOB L. HARRIS HABEN & CULPEPPER, P.A. 306 North Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 222-3533

Attorney for Respondent

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

The change in use section was added by the Florida Legislature in 1973. Legislative history indicates that the purpose of the section was to correct a constitutional defect in the law that had been passed the year before.

The 1972 Legislature limited the grounds for eviction for mobile homeowners to three specified reasons: non-payment of rent, failure to comply with park rules, and, the commission by a tenant of a crime which endangered the community. Ch. 72-28, Sec. 1, <u>Laws</u> <u>of Fla</u>. For the first time a park owner could not unilaterally evict a tenant. The new law required some wrongful act or omission on the part of the mobile homeowner.

-5-

The unintended but obvious result of the limitations on eviction enacted in 1972 was to grant to mobile homeowners a perpetual tenancy on the land of park owners. Permanently depriving a landowner of his ability to change the use of his land violates his property rights guaranteed by Article 1, Section 2 of the Florida Constitution. This Court, in <u>Palm Beach Mobile</u> <u>Homes, Inc.</u> v. Strong, 300 So.2d 881 (Fla. 1974), confirmed this proposition:

> "Although we find that Section 83.271, Florida Statutes, (now known as 723.061) is constitutionally valid, we are fully cognizant that a contention might be made that the act is invalid because it would have the effect of permanently depriving the owner of the land upon which a mobile home park is located for all times of the management in the use of his land for other purposes than a mobile home This would ordinarily raise serious park. doubts as to the constitutionality vel non of the act; however, that question has become moot in that the 1973 Legislature has cured the defects by enacting into law the [change in use section].

Strong, 300 So.2d at 887.

This Court reached the same conclusion in Stewart v. Green, 300 So.2d 889 (Fla. 1974), wherein Justice Roberts, specially concurring, stated:

"Recognizing the perpetual occupancy rights on another's property cannot, consistent with the constitution, be granted by law, we must construe the act in such a manner as to preserve its purpose while operating within the framework of the Constitution of Florida and of the Constitution of the United States".

Stewart, 300 So.2d at 894.

To cure this constitutional defect, the 1973 Legislature added the change in use section. At a meeting of the House Business Regulation Subcommittee, on May 8, 1973, the author of the change in use section, Representative Allen Becker, explained the intent of the proposed legislation to the Subcommittee. A transcript of this same discussion was presented to the trial court. (R 373-374)

Representative Allen Becker:

"Next is Section (d). This adds a fourth ground for eviction. It's a new way in which the landlord can evict The example of where this would occur, and the tenant. we have had several examples down in Dade County and one case the state wanted to put a road the new expressway down through South Dade and it went right through a mobile home park and we managed to keep the people there for quite a number of months on the existing law saying the state didn't have the right to because that wasn't the grounds for eviction. A change in use. The same thing happened where a car dealer wanted to take over a mobile home park and make into a used car lot. We have another one in Broward County where a bank wanted to expand it and we are faced with this although this added change really wouldn't be to the benefit of any tenants who was in the way of some change in use, I think it would enhance the constitutionality of the statute and it is probably a good amendment to have in there."

Chairman Bill Andrews:

"You're going to run head on into Mr. Whitson though, who wants to say that once you let them in a mobile home park, that can't change for a hundred years."

Representative Curt Kiser:

"That came from a problem we had in Pinellas where the shopping center needed to expand into a park and that was one of the arguments made in front of the zoning board was they were trying to change the zoning. The bill that was written last year permitted the perpetual lease and like Allen, I worried at that time that the bill might have been challenged and knocked unconstitutional because of that and this would give us more constitutional status by providing <u>a means to terminate</u> the land as a mobile home Dark. That's only fair if a guy wants to change the use." (Emphasis supplied)

Representative Allen Becker:

When somebody sells or is building something else and in fairness even though we used the bill against them in the past, it is only fair to give them this right and also will preserve the bill." (Emphasis supplied)

There are four points which are evident from the discussion by the Subcommittee. First, the Legislature meant to resolve the unconstitutionality of granting to mobile homeowners a perpetual tenancy on the land of park owners. Second, when Representative Becker commented on the right of park owners to change the use of land in order to sell if he obviously contemplated that the property could be sold following termination of the mobile home park use. Third, several different proposed new uses were mentioned which could result in the land being vacant and not in use for some period of time. Fourth, there was a complete absence from the discussion of any concern regarding notification to the tenants of the nature of the proposed future use of the land or any restrictions on future uses.

The Homeowners cite to this Court's decisions in <u>Stewart v.</u> <u>Green</u> and <u>Palm</u> Beach Mobile Homes, Inc. v. <u>Strong</u>, <u>supra</u>, for the proposition that mobile homeowners are afforded greater protections by the nature of their choice of living accommodations and that circumvention of those protections is prohibited. The Park Owner agrees. However, when a change of use is proposed, the special

-8-

protection afforded to mobile home tenants is their statutory right to an unusually long advance notice of their eviction. This notice requirement is not applicable to the other four grounds for eviction, each of which presently has a much shorter notice period. At the time the Park Owner delivered the eviction notice to the Homeowners, the statutory notice period was 6 months. In 1986, the notice period was increased to one year, and for the first time, park owners were required to compensate displaced tenants. The Park Owner complied with the applicable notice requirement.

The evidenced intent of the Legislature in adding the change in use section was to say: "Okay Mr. Park Owner, if you no longer want to operate a mobile home park. If you want to change the use. If you want to close it down. That's fine. You do not have to remain a mobile home park owner in perpetuity. But be aware, we are going to require a lengthy written notice. And you are not allowed to evict only undesirable tenants and then re-open the Park." The balance struck by the Legislature in enacting the change in use section was to codify park owners' constitutional right to cease being park owners, and to provide substantial advance notice to their tenants to reduce the hardships associated with moving. There is no evidence to suggest that the Legislature intended to grant to homeowners a right to second guess a park owner's proposed change in use, so long as the property would not be used as a mobile home park. That was the precise conclusion of both the trial court and the District Court of Appeal.

-9-

C. THE HOMEOWNERS' INTERPRETATION OF THE STATUTE WOULD LEAD TO ABSURD RESULTS AND UNREASONABLE CONSEQUENCES NOT INTENDED BY THE LEGISLATURE.

The Homeowners argue to this Court that a mobile home park owner may not evict under the change in use section unless he identifies the new use to be made of the property and immediately commences the new use upon termination of use as a mobile home park. Such an interpretation would lead to absurd results and unreasonable consequences not intended by the Legislature.

If the homeowners are correct that a change in use does not include a change to vacant land or no use, when does the change to a new use have to take place? Could the land remain vacant for even a day following eviction? For a month? A year? With a six month notice requirement could the homeowners wait until the 181st day and then refuse to move since the use of the land had not yet changed?

What if the notice specified a change to single family dwellings, but after the mobile homes were moved, the land was used for multi-family dwellings? Would the evicted residents have a cause of action against the park owner for violating the change in use section? Would the homeowners then be able to force the park owner to re-open the park?

What if the notice specified a change in use to a shopping center, and between the time of the notice and the date the mobile homes are moved, a brand new shopping center is built across the street? Would the park owner be forced to construct a shopping

-10-

center regardless of what the marketplace will bear? Would the owner be able to construct a different use for the property? Would the residents that have already moved because of the eviction notice have a cause of action against the park owner for violating the change in use section? Would the residents be able to return to the park at the owner's expense? Would a new notice have to be delivered with a new specified use?

What if following the death of the owner, the park is inherited by a distant relative? If the relative has no interest or experience in owning or operating a mobile home park, must he operate the park anyway? Is the relative forced to sell the park? Can he issue eviction notices under the change in use section and retain the land in the family? If he does choose to no longer operate the park, must he specify a new use in the notice and commence the new use immediately? Can he be forced to operate a business on his new land?

What if the park owner specified a use in his notice, was prepared to commence that new use, however, following eviction of the residents, his financing falls through? Would the owner be forced to commence the new use with his own limited funds? Could he allow the land to remain vacant while he attempted to work out his difficulties? If so, how long? If the land were to remain vacant, would the residents be entitled to return to the park until the new use commences?

The application of the Homeowners' interpretation to such real-world circumstances would result in absurd and unreasonable

-11-

consequences not intended by the Legislature. The Park Owner asserts that these absurd results and unreasonable consequences can only be avoided if a change in use includes a change to vacant land or to no use.

POINT Two

IN ORDER TO GUARANTEE THE PARK OWNERS' CONSTITUTIONALLY PROTECTED PROPERTY RIGHTS, A CHANGE IN USE OF THE LAND MUST INCLUDE A CHANGE TO VACANT LAND OR TO NO USE

If this Court were to find that the change in use section does not permit the park owner to change the use of the land from mobile home park use to vacant land or to no use, then the statute would be unconstitutional as violative of Article I, Section 2, of the Florida Constitution.

Article I, Section 2, of the Florida Constitution, in relevant part, provides:

Basic rights -- All natural persons are equal before the law and have inalienable rights, among which are the right to enjoy and defend life and liberty, to pursue happiness, to be rewarded for industry, and to acquire, possess and protect property:

Among its several protections, this constitutional provision guarantees all natural persons the right to possess and protect property. An individual's right to devote his real estate to any legitimate use is protected. <u>Miller v. MacGill</u>, 297 So.2d 573 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974). Liberty of contract and the right to use

-12-

one's property as one wills are fundamental constitutional guarantees. <u>Robinson v. Florida Drv Cleaning and Laundry Board</u>, 194 So. 269 (Fla. 1940); <u>Corn v. State</u>, 332 So.2d 4 (Fla. 1976). The exercise of legislative power and discrimination must not infringe upon or impair fundamental rights of property. <u>L. Maxcv</u> Inc. v. <u>Mayo</u>, 139 So. 121 (Fla. 1932).

In the context of the Florida Mobile Home Act, Chapter 723, this Court has specifically held that the rights and protections afforded to mobile home tenants can not impair or deprive park owners of their constitutionally protected property rights. The decisions in Strong and Stewart, <u>Supra</u>, made clear that park owners retain the right to manage and use their land for other purposes than a mobile home park, and to be free from a perpetual tenancy.

The park owner's right to make use of his property includes the right to make no use of the land. The Homeowners assert that a park owner may sell the park to his tenants, evict the tenants if he immediately commences a new use of the land, or continue operating the park, but he is prohibited by the statute from making no use of his land. The statute does not state such a prohibition and it would violate the constitution if it did.

Most land is zoned for a particular use or uses. However, a property owner does not violate his zoning classification when his land is vacant and not in use. Under the Homeowners' interpretation of the change in use section, this would no longer be true for mobile home park owners. Unlike all other landowners, park owners would be prohibited from discontinuing use of their

-13-

land. In fact, the Homeowner's interpretation requires a park owner to rezone his land as the only means to discontinue it use. Since a park owner's request to rezone the land might not be granted by local government, the only option left to the Park Owner under the Homeowners' interpretation would be a perpetual tenancy or a forced sale, both of which would be unconstitutional. The Park Owner does not want to operate a mobile home park any longer. The change in use section provides the only means to terminate use of the land as a mobile home park.

POINT THREE

ISSUES OF GOOD FAITH AND BREACH OF STATUTORY OBLIGATION WERE NOT PRESERVED FOR APPEAL AND ARE THEREFOR NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THIS COURT

In the Statement of Facts set forth by the Homeowners, and in Point II of their argument, the Homeowners attempt to have this Court rule on issues of fact relating to good faith and breach of statutory obligation. Such matters were not preserved for appeal and therefor should not be considered by this Court. The District Court of Appeal in this case has specifically held:

"Finally, appellants contend that a question of fact exists concerning whether appellee intended in good faith to change to use of the land from mobile home lot rentals to some other use pursuant to Section 723.061(1)(d). Appellants claim appellee intended to circumvent the requirements of Section 723.071, Florida Statutes (1985), which mandate that a park owner seeking to sell a park give the residents a right of first refusal. <u>Appellants</u> <u>raise this issue for the first time on appeal. Since the</u> <u>trial court did not have the issue of appellee's allesed</u>



-14-

breach of the statutory duties of good faith and fair dealings before it, this issue is not properly before us on appeal." (Emphasis supplied)

Harris, 550 So.2d at 1161.

Following the District Court's decision, the Homeowners sought rehearing, arguing to the District Court that it misapprehended the good faith issue and overlooked the fact that the issue was raised in the trial court and so was properly before them. The District Court was thus given an opportunity to consider whether it had overlooked these issues. It denied the Homeowners motion. Now, in Point II of their brief the Homeowners are asking this Court to rule on the good faith issue for the first time.

This Court has maintained that issues not raised at the trial court, with the exception of questions of facial constitutionality, will not be considered for the first time on appeal.

> "The district court's certification that its decision passed upon a question of great public importance gives this Court jurisdiction to review the district court's 'decision'. Art. V, Section 3(b)(4), Fla. Const. Once the case has been accepted for review here, this Court may review any issue arising in the case that has been properly preserved and properly presented." (Emphasis supplied).

Tillman v. State, 471 So.2d 32, 34 (Fla. 1985).

Since no other issues were properly preserved for appeal, only the certified question should be considered by this Court.

Both the Park Owner and Homeowners moved for summary judgment,

representing to the trial court that there were no disputed issues of material fact on the eviction issue. At hearing, on the motions for summary judgment, the trial court sought confirmation from counsel for the respective parties that no material facts were in dispute and the matter was ripe for summary judgment:

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